The Infrasonic Impact:

Exploring the cognitive impact of frequencies below the hearing threshold during short term exposure

Darren Christopher Pereira



Submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of MRes, The University of Leeds, School of Psychology, Leeds; June 2022.

The candidate confirms that the work submitted is his own and that appropriate credit has been made to the work of others. This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without prior acknowledgement.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors Jelena Havelka, Freya Bailes and Richard Allen for accompanying me through this degree and offering guidance so that we could eventually get through the Covid-19 pandemic with something to show.

I would like to thank my wife Fiona, the resonant melody in a sea of sound, and Harry F. Olson for writing Music, Physics and Engineering in 1967 so that I could imagine doing more in 2015. I would also like to thank Holly Ross for being the best sounding board one could ask for.

Abstract

Infrasonic sound - or sound below the generally accepted audible threshold - is a persistent part of most modern environments and human beings have a near-constant exposure to it as it exists both naturally and from mechanical sources. While infrasonic sound frequencies are below the hearing threshold (20 to 20,000 Hz), studies show that they are still perceived by the human auditory system. Despite this evidence, studies determining the potential impact of infrasonic sound or the perception of the existence of infrasonic sound on cognition are scarce due to the challenges surrounding the delivery of infrasonic frequencies in a controlled environment such as replicating a non-audible sound, delivering this to participants and avoiding other overlap with other frequencies. There is rigorous discussion around what impact the placebo effect may have on infrasonic sound, with schools of thought vacillating between the placebo effect having no impact at all and it being the sole cause of any reported symptoms including changes to concentration abilities and diminished memory in subjects. As there remains no conclusive explanation for the relation between priming in the form of created expectation and the actual effect of infrasound, this leads to the question of whether infrasound may be able to affect cognitive functioning in any way. Determining the affect, and then studying the applications or mitigations needed to achieve a beneficial outcome to improve cognition by enhancing or inhibiting infrasonic sound are the focal point of this study.

This project explores the influence of infrasound on cognition by testing reaction time to stimuli and working memory in the presence and absence of exposure to infrasonic frequencies, using an advanced technical setup alongside tools like the Simon test and the n-back test. This approach creates a system to deliver infrasonic sound discreetly (without participant knowledge in all instance, unless briefed) and study the impact on short-term exposure patterns. In contrast, most research to date has investigated the possible effects that long-term exposure to infrasound (spanning months to years) may have on sleep

patterns and biological functions, with mixed findings. A number of studies have attempted to detect any correlation or investigate the relationship between reported symptoms (irritability, trouble with concentration/attention, dizziness, anxiousness, extreme fatigue and other self reported health concerns) in those exposed to constant infrasound generated by wind turbines, with some arguing a relationship between this exposure and perceived negative effects (the validity of which remains uncertain) and others unable to find evidence of a clear link between sound and symptomatology.

While exposure to infrasonic frequencies is a temperamental process due to the complexity of the technical set up needed and variation in exposure and delivery (and the reported effects are being debated), functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) studies have been able to map the neural changes based on cerebral blood flow. Certain fMRI studies make note of brain stimulation on exposure to infrasonic sound, and are consistent with a potential effect on cognitive performance. This project aims to explore whether exposure to infrasonic sound can influence cognitive function using measures of accuracy, and reaction times as outcome measures in tests of reaction times and working memory intended to determine whether this could enhance or inhibit cognitive functioning. While long-term exposure could have a number of variables that may not be noticed, short term exposure limits any potential long lasting negative effects and allows us to take a closer look at immediate impact.

This project additionally intends to further explore the impact of positive and negative expectation on individuals exposed to infrasound, by creating positive/negative impressions prior to exposure using media created for the purpose of creating expectation. The concepts of placebo and nocebo, or the impact of positive and negative expectation, are argued to be contributory to the real and imagined impacts of infrasonic sound.

If infrasonic sound has a genuine impact on human cognitive performance, then the level to which this can be exploited or inhibited may have a proportional relationship with individual expectation of impact.

This research intends to further provide insight into the impact of infrasound on cognitive functioning and the relationship that awareness of infrasound (in the form of expectation) has on this outcome. The outcome of this study showed that accuracy when conducting cognitive tasks is not affected by the presence of infrasonic frequencies in a significant way. However, there was an observed negative impact on simple reaction times (time taken between the observation of a stimulus and the response to the stimulus as set out by the task) in the presence of infrasonic frequencies.

This suggests an impact on cognition due to the presence of infrasonic frequencies in an environment requiring computer-based information processing tasks. This outcome has practical implications for drug free methodology for cognitive enhancement, potentially creating a context within which we can purposefully prevent deterioration of memory recall and reaction time using the controlled absence of infrasonic sound.

Table of contents:

1. Introduction	7
1.1. Infrasonic Sound and the environment	7
1.2. Lack of understanding despite modern applications	10
1.3. Infrasonic frequency, perception and stress	12
1.4. Stress and its impact on cognitive functioning	13
1.5. The influence of amplification by expectation	16
1.6. Thesis rationale and hypothesis	19
2. Methods	21
2.1. Participants, recruitment, and information	21
2.2. Procedure	22
2.2.1. Testing booth and physical layout	24
2.2.2. Stimuli and equipment	25
2.2.3. The Simon Test	26
2.2.4. The n-back test	28
2.3. Data analysis	31
3. Results	33
3.1. Response times	33
3.2. Accuracy	34
4. Discussion	36
4.1. Limitations and future directions	
4.2. Concluding Remarks	40
5. References	41
6. Appendices	51
I. Ethics approval	51
II. Recruitment poster	52
III. Email sent to participant pool	53
IV. Participant Information Sheet	54
V. Participant Consent Form	57
VI. Task Instruction Sheet	58
VII. Debrief Information	59
IX. Ethics Approval (Placebo /Nocebo)	61
X. Placebo / Nocebo Expectation Text	62
XI. Debrief Information (Placebo / Nocebo)	63

1. Introduction

1.1. Infrasonic Sound and the environment

The field of physics defines sound as a vibration that travels through a transmission medium such as solids, liquids, or gases in the form of a wave (Crawford, 1968). Sound can be divided into a scale based on perceptual properties (Klapuri & Davy, 2009). This is measured using the unit of frequency Hertz (Hz), defined in the International System of Units as one completed wave of alternating current or voltage (cycle) per second (International Bureau of Weights and Measures, 2019). The scale is divided into bands, ranging from extremely low frequencies (ELF) (3-30 Hz) to tremendously high frequency (THF) (300–3,000 GHz) (Booth, 1949). Human hearing can detect sounds in the frequency range spanning 20 Hz to 20,000 Hz, known as the audible spectrum (Purves & Williams, 2001). Infrasonic sound falls into the extremely low-frequency band and is generally understood to be below the threshold of human hearing, just under the audible spectrum (Yeowart & Evans, 1974). As noise is defined as any sound that is unwanted or does not serve a specific predetermined purpose, infrasonic frequencies can often be classified as noise (Garcia, 2001).

Environmental noise is defined as "unwanted or harmful outdoor sound created by human activities, including noise emitted by means of transport, road traffic, rail traffic, air traffic, and from sites of industrial activity" (EU, 2002, p. 4). Environmental noise includes infrasonic sound as most modern machinery has been found to emit infrasonic frequencies (Persinger, 2014). For example, infrasound frequencies have been detected originating from cars, aircraft, water vehicles and railway systems (Syracuse Research Corporation, 1980; Winiarski, 1983). In the automotive industry it was found that the levels of infrasonic sound were regularly created by most vehicles and were proportional to the number of openings in a vehicular structure, speed, and size of vehicles. (Haddad, 1989; Nowacki et al., 2007).

These frequencies are also present in agrarian settings where machinery like tractors, grain mixers and conveyor belts are used (Bilski,2017). Even household items like fridges and washing machines are responsible for the creation of infrasonic vibrations (Okada, 1990). These are often unknowingly perceived as they are obfuscated by the audible sounds made by these appliances through a process called auditory masking. This is where the overlap of other sounds can hide the presence of infrasonic sound (Gelfand, 2004).

Infrasonic frequencies can also be naturally occurring in the environment. Weather patterns including thunder, lightning, wind and precipitation, alongside the motion of bodies of water, tectonic shifts and glacial processes create large amounts of noise (Haak, 2006; Matoza et al., 2019). Nonlinear ocean wave patterns created by ocean movements, storms and water disturbance through human activity create infrasonic sounds (Garces & Willis, 2006; Garces et al., 2003). Many animals including elephants (Langbauer et al., 1991) and certain species of birds (Moss & Lockie, 1979: Kreithen & Quine, 1979) also create and perceive infrasonic sound as a means of communication. Fish such as cod, sea bass and sharks have an acute sensitivity to low frequency sound generated by movement (Sand & Karlsen, 1986; Kastelein et al., 2008). Marine mammals including seals, porpoises and whales also show sensitivity to these frequencies and use them for communication, orientation and location of prey (Kastelein et al., 2006; Mourlam & Maeva, 2017). This establishes an environmental presence of infrasound present both at land and sea using both air and water as a medium. The beating of the heart, respiration and internal functioning of most creatures including human beings also creates infrasonic noise (Colby et al., 2009).

This presence of infrasonic sound in the environment is not always easy to detect due to our auditory system based limited ability to notice low-frequency noise when compared to other noise or sound frequencies (Berglund et al., 1996). The effects of this noise have a large spread of influence due to the creation of large amounts of omnidirectional sound that can be easily propagated through the available medium (Ghadiali & Trivedi, 2015).

Without specialised equipment to capture, record and evaluate or measure infrasonic sound, we may be unaware of its presence (Lonzaga et al., 2015). The presence of infrasound permeates our surroundings and the probability of exposure to these frequencies is high.

In a year long evaluation of students in areas of higher traffic noise (including infrasonic frequencies), it was found that exposure slowed down the development of working memory and attention (Foraster et al., 2022). Ascone et al. (2021), aimed to be the first-ever conducted randomized-controlled longitudinal exposure trial to study whether mental health, cognition and brain structure were affected by infrasonic sound. The study researched the long-term effect of infrasonic frequencies on the brain and behavioural patterns in human beings. Custom devices using 6Hz were used to expose participants to infrasonic sound over a period of 28 nights (n=38). The study aimed to measure the impact on soundsensitivity to infrasonic sound, cognitive performance (Tests of Attentional Performance (TAP) 28, Simon task and Go/No-go), and changes to sleep quality most prominently. By the conclusion of the study, no differences to behavioural variables such as sensitivity to infrasonic sound, sleep disruption, reported psychiatric symptoms, elevated stress levels or cognitive functions (attention changes, flexibility, alertness or inhibition) were found and the study concluded that infrasonic sound did not affect healthy individuals after long term exposure. However, it is possible that the long duration of exposure created a diminishing response to the stimulus in the form of habituation (Uribe-Bahamonde et al., 2019). This further supports the need to study short term exposure of infrasonic frequencies and their impact on cognition.

1.2. Lack of understanding despite modern applications

Infrasonic sound frequencies have been observed during tectonic movement like earthquakes (Mutschlecner, 2005), landslides and volcanic eruptions (Walter et al., 2019) acting as an early warning system. Studies have shown that vibrations at an infrasonic sound frequency can be used as a measurement system by studying the relation between duration and magnitude of seismic activity (Mutschlecner, 2005). Nuclear detonation creates significant infrasonic sound vibrations (Che et al., 2014) and infrasonic sound is a key system used to identify if nuclear detonations have occurred. A 60-station seismic monitoring network set in place to track infrasonic sound makes up the International Monitoring System which serves as a watchdog to avoid violations of the Comprehensive Nuclear Test-Ban Treaty (CTBT) (Lay, 1998; United Nations, 1998). The Langley research centre wing of the National Aeronautics and Space Administration has developed an infrasonic sound-based system to measure and monitor atmospheric changes called the Extreme Low Frequency Acoustic Measurement System (Shams et al., 2013; National Aeronautics and Space Administration, 2014).

There has been a lot of research dedicated to the possibility of using infrasonic sound for lethal and non-lethal military applications (Jauchem & Cook, 2007). Weapons have been developed and deployed as crowd control measures in Iraq in the form of a Long-Range Acoustic Device (LRAD) (Davidson & Lewer, 2004), Israel (Ben-Davidson, 2004) and the UK (Ministry of Defence, 1999). More innocuous use includes a device called "The Mosquito" using the frequencies at 8 Hz to allegedly dissuade loitering by creating discomfort (Stapleton, 2004). The 2018 attack on the American Embassy in Cuba was theorised to be using sound beneath the hearing threshold and in the infrasonic sound frequency range (Cohen, 2018).

The human rights advocacy NGO, Physicians for Human Rights have deemed infrasonic weapons to be of significant levels of concern and consider infrasonic sound-based acoustic weapons to have the potential to cause severe damage to the human body. In their 2020 report Long-Range Acoustic Devices, the Mosquito and infrasonic sound frequencies were specifically singled out (PHR, 2020).

In the field of medicine, new applications for infrasonic sound frequencies are increasingly seen as a viable complementary strategy, in addition to traditional and non-traditional methodologies (Persinger, 2014; Brooke-Wavell & Mansfield, 2008). Ballistocardiography, the monitoring of blood movements through the heart, is studied and measured in a non-invasive way using infrasonic sound (Gordon, 1877). This technique uses infrasound in the frequency range of 1-20 Hz to detect motions of the body created through the mechanical movements of the heart as blood is ejected and is able to detect heart defects or abnormalities by studying the infrasonic output (Pinheiro et al., 2010).

The developing military and medical use of infrasonic sound hints at expanded forms of use in the future, however the gaps in our knowledge regarding the potential side effects are large due to a lack of research. The impact on cognition when used offensively on civilian populations or during surgical/ therapeutic practices may have far reaching effects that have yet to be discovered. Furthermore the public perception of infrasound could be influenced by its prevalence in the media as a tool for warfare, further strengthening the argument of unknown cognitive influence by way of a placebo/nocebo effect. This study has looked at the effect of infrasonic sound on participants who have not been influenced positively or negatively to create an expectation prior to participation in the experiment. While a subsequent study to study the impact of placebo and nocebo effects on participants had begun, the study was forced to shut down due to the COVID-19 pandemic and mandatory restrictions on inter-personal contact, transportation and access to resources/locations by government decree.

1.3. Infrasonic frequency, perception and stress

Yeowart et al. (1967) demonstrated that, using earphones, frequencies in the range 5-100 Hz could be perceived. In an anechoic acoustic chamber, it has been shown that frequencies as low as 4-25 Hz could be perceived (Watanabe & Møller, 1990). While we are near constantly exposed to these frequencies, the presence of external sound and environmental disturbances tend to mask the presence of infrasonic sound (Boretti et al.,2018). This occurs through the process of auditory masking, where the perception of sound is affected by the presence or interaction with other sounds (Gelfand, 2004). The outcome of this masking is that we are often not consciously aware of our exposure to infrasonic sound and the impact it may have on cognitive performance.

In fMRI studies, it was found that infrasonic sound led to activation of the auditory cortex (indicative of perception of infrasonic sound via acoustic pathways) in the Brodmann areas 41 and 42, and in the superior temporal gyrus within the cerebral cortex. As these regions are responsible for filtering and processing auditory stimuli, we can infer that infrasonic sound frequencies activating these cortical regions are processed in similar ways to audible frequencies, despite being considered inaudible (Dommes et al., 2009; Weichenberger et al., 2015). These findings would suggest that there may be a foundation for the influence of infrasound stimulation on cognitive task performance. Infrasonic frequencies have been shown to physiologically affect the human body by stimulating regions of the brain, interfering with vision as well as heart and lung function (Okai, 1986; Tandy, 1998; Dommes et al., 2009; Weichenberger et al., 2009; Weichenberger et al., 2015).

Studies have shown that noise can trigger stress reactions and can be considered a cause of stress (Ising & Braun, 2000). Infrasonic sound specifically has been shown to be a 'nonspecific biological stressor' as an environmental noise product that causes the brain to release glucocorticoids (Du et al., 2010; Jiang et al., 2014). Glucocorticoid secretion by endocrine systems is seen as a stress response (Lupien et al., 2007; Vogel et al., 2016). Catecholamine-mediated stress responses can affect attention, working and long-term memory, while slower, cortisol effects are slower and longer-lasting, which may have implications for noise-induced stress responses (Vogel et al., 2016).Thus, we can see how infrasonic sound being present in multiple environmental forms has a stress-related impact. If we are to assume that infrasound has the potential to impact cognitive performance, human inability to hear it in most environments due to masking means a potentially important environmental factor influencing cognitive performance and mental wellbeing as a result.

1.4. Stress and its impact on cognitive functioning

Cognition is commonly accepted to be 'all forms of knowing and awareness, such as perceiving, conceiving, remembering, reasoning, judging, imagining, and problem solving' (American Psychological Association, 2021). In simple terms, cognitive functioning involves the mental processes relating to abilities like perception, memory, critical thinking, and mental imagery. Stress is characterised by the relationship between an individual's cognitive capacity and the variables that create the environment surrounding the individual, and whether the environment is judged as exceeding available resources to cope (Lazarus, 1966,1993). Stress is an imbalanced relationship that can occur when the individual is forced to deal with environmental demands in a manner that challenges the available cognitive resource (Lazarus & Folkman, 2013). Stress can be differentiated into separate and distinct categories, differing in process with positive or negative outcomes (O'Sullivan, 2010). Of these two outcomes, the positive psychological response to stress, when the available

resources allow the individual to suitably deal with the environmental challenges, is called eustress. Distress is consequently the negative psychological response to limited resources in the face of environmental challenges (Simmons & Nelson, 2007).

Hans Selye (1976) termed stress as a "nonspecific response of the body to any demand" (p. 137) and eventually came to lay down the foundation that established the relation between stress and clinical conditions (Tan & Yip, 2018). Selye proposed that stress and stressors didn't necessarily have to have a negative impact, but instead it was possible for a given stressor to elicit a positive or negative result. Rather than eustress and distress being two opposing sides, they are recognised as two related yet separate identifiable concepts. While they tend to have the same cause, they can have opposite or different outcomes. Studies show that the two forms of stress could occur together, and stress reaction can be considered comorbidities when occurring together. This means that the cause of stress could have both a positive effect on certain tasks and a negative outcome on others simultaneously (Simmons & Nelson, 2001, 2007).

Edwards and Cooper (1988) suggested that eustress enabled individuals to perform in a manner that would allow them to function efficiently, while able to mitigate the stress demands that they were exposed to. It was found that students who were experiencing higher levels of stress had better academic results whereas their counterparts who had experienced a lower level received poorer grades (Monk, 2004). Glass and Singer (1972) showed that sound can improve attentiveness on tasks that are repetitive or monotonous and might be considered under-arousing. In contrast, they also found that sound could potentially impair individual performance on tasks that required more complex responses or concentration. Stress as a stimulus has been shown to stimulate arousal, which is the stimulation of sense organs in a manner that affects perception (Cannon, 1932). The Yerkes–Dodson Law postulates that performance may increase or decrease depending on the level of arousal, as there is an empirically verified stress to performance relationship

(Yerkes, & Dodson, 1908). This supports the concept of cognitive resource being utilised to deal with environmental factors. Research suggests that tasks may require different levels of stress-related arousal to perform at an optimal level (Diamond et al., 2007). It can therefore be inferred that as stress has a strong impact on cognitive function, stress responses to infrasonic frequencies may demonstrably produce similar impacts creating sustained attentiveness or inhibiting attention; a significant factor in reaction time (Carlson et al., 1983).

The Simon test alongside the stroop test and flanker task, is one of the most widely used cognitive functioning tests used within the field of neuroscience and psychology to evaluate motor planning, cognitive control, and attention (Cespón et al., 2020). The Simon test uses the Stroop effect to determine the ability to inhibit cognitive interference when a second stimulus is present while the participant is required to process a given task related stimulus in the form of reaction times (Simon & Rudell, 1967). As reaction time testing during cognitive tasks is regarded as a valid measure of cognitive functioning (Jakobsen et al., 2010), measuring the impact of stress related change to individual reaction time will also enable us to study the relationship between cognitive functioning and the stimulus of infrasonic sound in a simple manner.

Working memory is a complex cognitive function based on sustained attention patterns, requiring the holding and processing of information despite external interference (Gajewski et al., 2018; Engle, 2002;1999). Complex cognitive tasks such as comprehension, reasoning, and learning are dependent on working memory functions. The concept of working memory developed from that of 'short-term' memory into one comprising three components. The central executive directs attention in a phonological loop with the visuo-spatial and verbal-acoustic systems and the episodic buffer, through which the components of working memory may integrate with long-term memories and perceptions (Baddeley, 1992, 2010).

Based on initial exploratory studies relating Auditory Cortex stimulation to the presence of infrasonic sound while conducting an n-back task (Weichenberger et al., 2015; Dommes et al., 2009), working memory could potentially be an area affected by infrasonic sound. This was supported by longitudinal studies that identified working memory as a good parameter for measuring the impact of infrasonic sound on cognitive capacity (Ascone et al., 2021).

A variety of tasks are used to measure working memory such as Dichotic-Listening tasks, stroop tasks, go/no-go task and the n-back task (Wilhelm et al., 2013). A commonly use effective test of working memory is the n-back test where participants are required to monitor a series of stimuli patterns and to respond whenever there is a repetition of stimulus presented after n number of previous trials. Here, participants are typically instructed to monitor a series of stimuli and to respond whenever a stimulus is presented that is the same as the one presented n trials previously (Owen et al., 2013). The increased attentional requirement (cognitive demands) for working memory in the n-back task may allow for unconscious sensory gating to suppress unwanted sound stimuli (such as infrasonic sound) which could demand additional cognitive resources and prevent completion of the task or allow the task to be successful depending on the cognitive demands of the unwanted sound stimulus (Nakajima et al., 2019; Miller & Cohen, 2001; Petersen & Posner, 2012). As the infrasonic stimulus represents an external stressor that creates interference, measuring any change in working memory in the presence of infrasonic sound may clarify whether it has a stress-related resource demanding impact on cognition that exceeds the suppression due to engagement in the task.

1.5. The influence of amplification by expectation

The exposure to environmental sound, which has been established to contain infrasonic frequencies (Persinger et al., 2014), has been reported to have a range of psychological and physiological effects on the human body (Kinsler et al., 2000). Exposure to everyday

infrasonic sound frequencies has been found irritating and disturbing in workplace environment simulations, by participants aware of the sound being present in the work environment. A study of the impact of infrasonic on participants (n=52) exposed to naturally occurring office based infrasound stemming from workplace equipment such as airconditioners and computer equipment was contrasted with participants (n=60) who took part in continuous attention psychological tests while being exposed to low frequency sound in a laboratory setting. The findings concluded that efficiency and productivity decreased due to the annoyance caused by low frequency noise in the infrasonic range (Kaczmarska & Luczak, 2007). Behavioural alterations and cardiovascular diseases have also been attributed to infrasonic frequency exposure in several instances collectively termed vibroacoustic disease or VAD. This systemic pathology takes the form of symptoms like pulmonary instability, mood disorders and respiration difficulties (Ferreira et al., 2004; Huang et al., 2003; Pei et al., 2007).

As our understanding of infrasonic sound and ability to recognise its impact grows due to the emerging studies beginning to be published (and increasing media coverage), there has been an increase in the number of people coming forward to report symptoms attributed to infrasonic sound (Pierpont, 2009). Reported symptoms include changes to concentration abilities and diminished memory attributed to infrasound exposure in the long-term observation of participants (Punch & James, 2014). This trend has led to the coining of "Wind Turbine Syndrome" as a description of the collective symptomatology investigated by researchers exploring the impact of infrasonic frequencies on health. This condition is defined by health issues including irritability, trouble with concentration/attention, dizziness, anxiousness, extreme fatigue, and sleep disruption attributed to infrasonic exposure (Pierpont, 2009). A recent first of its kind longitudinal study of long term impact of infrasound argue that there is no impact on factors like sleep, attention, alertness, or any self-reported heath issues (Ascone et al., 2021). Based on the anecdotal and sensationalist nature of the studies(Roosth, 2018) put forward detailing 'Wind Turbine Syndrome' as a catch all term for

infrasound attributed symptoms (Pierpont, 2009), attributing extreme reactions to infrasonic sound are reliant on confirmation bias and very likely pseudoscientific (Cover & Curd, 1998). In the report commissioned by the UK Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs the concept of 'Wind Turbine Syndrome' was pointed out as severely unscientific and unsupported by facts (Leventhall et al., 2003).

There are two distinct prevalent interpretations of the expectation based symptom phenomenon. Either, that there is a real and recognisable physiological impact of infrasonic sound, or alternatively, the effect is a psychogenic effect caused by expectation, where infrasonic frequencies play no causal physiological role (Tonin et al., 2016). A psychogenic illness is one where there are common symptoms spread through a population with no recognisable infectious agent or cause for contagion (Bartholomew & Wessely,2002; Kelly et al, 2014). During a trial, experiment or experience, a positive psychosocial context can create a positive outcome in the form of a placebo effect (Hróbjartsson & Gøtzsche, 2010). Similarly, a negative contextualisation (especially one that frames the possible adverse side effects) can create a contradictory or deleterious outcome, the nocebo effect (Häuser et al, 2011). Research in the field has proposed that several of the health concerns self-reported by individuals who have been exposed to infrasonic sound, are commonly seen in areas where wind turbine farms have had a large amount of negative publicity leading to the misattribution of symptoms to infrasonic sound aligned with the expectations of harm established in press media (Crichton et al., 2014; Tonin et al., 2016). Attempts to recreate symptoms of fatigue, irritation, depression, sleep deprivation, lack of attention (or similar) in a controlled environment showed that participants who were primed using material which increased their concerns about the effect of infrasonic sound were more likely to report symptomatic reactions to both infrasound and sham infrasound (Crichton et al., 2014). This supports the potential influence of the nocebo and/or placebo effect on the perception of infrasonic sound.

Whether this is an exacerbation of an existing cognitive response or responsible for the response itself is yet to be established. With the importance of priming or expectation being understood to potentially have an impact on any infrasonic study. This study looks into the effects of infrasonic sound without the presence of any external information regarding infrasonic sound that could influence the participant's cognitive performance during the course of the study.

1.6. Thesis rationale and hypothesis

Research to date has generally investigated the effect that exposure to infrasonic sound may have on sleep patterns and biological functions after or during long-term exposure (months to years) (Punch & James, 2014;Tonin et al.,2016;Ascone, 2021), leaving a gap in the literature regarding shorter-term exposure and the impact of acute exposure on cognitive functioning. This thesis aims to build on the small, but growing body of existing works of research investigating short exposure patterns and exploring the potential for these manipulations to influence cognitive functioning. Several fMRI studies investigated the areas of the brain stimulated by infrasonic sound. Stimulation of the Brodmann Areas 22,41,42 of the bilateral primary audio cortex, and the rAmygdala were activated when exposed to short term infrasonic sound bursts. There was found to be higher local connectivity of right superior temporal gyrus and similar areas of the aditory cortex. The studies also found a negligible trend supporting task improvement during infrasonic sound exposure (Dommes et al., 2009;Weichenberger et al., 2015, 2017).

It is hypothesised that exposure to controlled short bursts of infrasonic sound, will
affect cognitive functioning in a manner which is measurable through simple reaction
time and accuracy (in the absence of priming or expectation).

It is hoped that this thesis will further our understanding of infrasonic sound in terms of potential influence on cognitive functioning, and the relationship between sound-based environmental factors and performance. It may also have practical implications, potentially creating a context with which we can enhance cognitive capability by using the presence or absence of infrasonic sound.

The second intended outcome was top evaluate the impact of expectation and priming on these tasks to understand the implications of a placebo / nocebo effect.

2. Methods

2.1. Participants, recruitment, and information

The study employed a within-subjects design, manipulating the presence or absence of infrasonic sound. Based on similar studies by Weichenberger et al. (2015, 2017) and Dommes et al. (2009), the smallest effect size of interest was determined as Cohen's d = 0.5. To detect an effect size of 0.5 with 80% power (alpha = .05, two tailed), using G*Power (Faul et al., 2007; 2009), a minimum of 34 participants would be required in a paired t-test.

43 adults aged 18-34 took part in this study (Mean age = 20.25 / Median age = 19, Standard deviation = 3.51, 14 males and 29 females). 3 participants from the total of 43 were excluded, and their data omitted from the study, as all 3 correctly identified the presence of infrasonic sound during the experiment as noted during the debrief.

Each test had a pilot stage to allow for testing errors and for gathering of initial data to ensure the smooth running of subsequent tests. During this pilot stage, 5 volunteers from outside the participant pool performed each test in its entirety. The data collected was too small a sample size to be indicative of the future outcome and was therefore not included in the study.

Participants were native English speakers, had no known learning difficulties, self-reported normal hearing and reported normal or corrected-to-normal vision with no colour blindness. Participants were a mix of students at the University of Leeds, who were reimbursed for their time with course credits, and volunteers who were reimbursed for their time with gift vouchers worth £3. These volunteers were recruited by poster and internal University participant pool systems. The experiment was approved by the School of Psychology Ethics Committee at the University of Leeds (PS-654) (Appendix i).

To conceal the research focus on infrasonic sound as the experiment was a blind study, participants were recruited using posters calling for an attention study (**Appendix ii**). An initial email was sent to students describing the study as a call for participation (**Appendix iii**). Participants were provided with a participant information sheet detailing a brief outline of the proposed attention span study, contact details of the researcher, withdrawal instructions and confidentiality explanations (**Appendix iv**). This was followed by a consent form (**Appendix v**) and an information sheet outlining task instructions for each experiment (**Appendix v**). At the end of the experiment, the participants were provided with a questionnaire (**Appendix vii**) followed by experiment debrief information (**Appendix viii**).

The questionnaire consisted of three open-ended questions to determine whether participants could perceive the infrasonic sound during the experiments, and to seek further insights to inform future studies.

The debrief information informed the participants of the true nature of the study, and a reiteration of their ability to withdraw (as well as instructions on how to do so). Finally, the debrief information sheet also asked the participants not to disclose any information pertaining to the study to prevent any influence on other participants.

2.2. Procedure

To enable the exposure to infrasonic sound while concealing the true focus of this study, participants were instructed to wear headphones prior to the start of the experiments. This enabled the administration of the infrasonic frequencies during one block per test without detection. The use of headphones was explained as being a way to prevent external noise from interrupting the experiments.

The two tests of cognitive performance used for this study were the Simon test and the nback test. Using a within-subjects design, the order of task completion and infrasonic sound exposure was counterbalanced using a Latin-square design. A Latin square is a table populated with different variables, so that each variable is present only once in each row and exactly once in each column. This means that the tasks were counterbalanced as the variables were rearranged to prevent nuisance variability (Vengadesan et al., 2004).

The Simon test was chosen as a simple test of reaction time and accuracy (Hommel, 2011). Reaction time is a simple form of the reflexive speed response of a nervous system and is a good indicator of reaction to stimulus perceived by the nervous system (Radak, 2018). Here, the participant is presented with a sequential stimulus set and is required to indicate options using the correct corresponding key. The speed of response time is then automatically tracked for comparison. The n-back test was chosen because it has a greater demand on working memory (Jaeggi, 2010). The participant is presented with a sequential stimulus matches the one from 'n' (predefined) steps earlier in the sequence. This is expanded upon in section **2.2.3** and **2.2.4**.

Participants completed two blocks each of 120 randomised trials for the Simon test, and 109 trials (with 20 correct responses possible) for the n-back test. In order to vary the presentation order involved in the trials for the n-back test, three manual spreadsheets were created to be used in rotation with the same number of correct responses (but with different presentation orders).

No practice trials were used to prevent an attenuation effect that could influence results (Brown, 2008). The studies commenced with the provision of study information (for the first block of each set). This was followed by participant consent forms allowing for informed consent. As mentioned above, the true purpose of the study was initially concealed, to be then explained in detail during the debrief. Following the informed consent the participant

was assigned a generated participant number. Before each task attempt, the participant was given clear written instructions that required them to acknowledge their understanding before proceeding **(Apendix vi)**. These instructions were then repeated on the screen before each task. Each task block took 5 minutes to complete, with 2 blocks per task undertaken by each participant.

A brief break was taken after the first block of each test, where the participant would exit the room. This enabled the researcher to save the recorded information and prepare the second block. The task was repeated either with or without the presence of infrasonic sound, depending on the counterbalanced order. This is visually represented in **Figure A**.



Figure A. Break up of blocks within each task.

2.2.1. Testing booth and physical layout

The physical testing space was consistently the same closed room with a computer, a desk, and a set of chairs. This room was based within the University of Leeds, School of Psychology Building. This is seen visually represented in **Figure B**, where the researcher was seated at the location r and the participant at p.





Figure B. Physical layout of testing booth.

2.2.2. Stimuli and equipment

A frequency at 17 Hz, similar to experiments previously conducted by Weichenberger et al. (2017) and Erfani et al. (2020) was used in the experiment. This was generated using a MAX/MSP patch (Battey & Amedlides, 2013). Weichenberger et al. (2015, 2017) conducted fMRI trials that found evidence suggesting near threshold (20 Hz) frequencies like 17 Hz showed stimulation of areas in the brain that were responsible for auditory processing, emotional control, and autonomic control (Weichenberger et al., 2017). 17 Hz was specifically chosen as it was the closest to the hearing threshold without affecting vision. The resonant frequency for the eyeball is generally accepted as between 18 Hz and 19 Hz. Presenting a frequency at or near 18.5 Hz could potentially affect vision (Tandy & Lawrence, 1998). A sound intensity level of 10 dB or decibels was used as this created a near hearing threshold sound that was comparable in loudness to normal breathing and was therefore suitable for an experiment where it was preferable for participants to not detect the presence of infrasonic frequencies (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2019).

The frequency delivery mechanism was designed in the form of a sinusoidal oscillator primed to deliver a continuous sine wave with the use of a smooth periodic oscillation. The toggle options built into the application contained an on or off (I/O) setting. Audio Technica ATH M50x audio headphones possessing a frequency range of 15 Hz to 28 KHz were used to deliver the frequencies to the participant. An Asus Xonar U7 MK11 sound card was be used for hardware support (to process, deliver and maintain 17 Hz frequencies) and frequency output was consistently measured using an oscilloscope. This was done to ensure the correct and consistent frequency was present across participants during the experiments.

The open-source software package PsychoPy written in the Python programming language was used to create the tests and then capture participant responses (Pierce et al., 2007, 2009, 2018, 2019). These were made for the purpose of the experiment and did not use a template.

2.2.3. The Simon Test

The Simon test examines stimulus-response compatibility using the speed of reaction time to stimulus (Simon & Rudell,1967). The participant is presented with a sequential stimulus set and is required to indicate using the correct corresponding key(colour coded to match the stimulus) which option is displayed. The test has previously been shown as effective in determining the impact of interference on responses (Simon et al., 1973; Prinz & Hommel, 2002). It was chosen as a task as it would allow us to see if there was any change to the accuracy and reaction time responses when exposed to infrasonic sound.

For the Simon test, the infrasonic sound oscillator was turned on or off in accordance with counterbalancing before the start of the test. Doing so meant in an instance where the block required the infrasonic sound to be present it could be started and where the block required

that the infrasonic sound to be absent it could be turned off prior to the start of the block. The initial screen asked the participant to fill in their age, gender, block number and participant number. Instructions regarding how to proceed (describing the actions needed to be performed) were given via the software itself. The appropriate response keys were stickered using a coloured sticker that corresponded to the two colours displayed. The option to continue if the instructions are clear remained on the computer screen until the spacebar key was pressed. The participant was also given the option to address any confusion by speaking to the researcher before the experiment began.

After pressing the spacebar, the participant was shown a randomly generated sequence of either red or green 5 cm x 5 cm opaque squares on a screen. Each square was present on the screen for 2 seconds, during which time participants were expected to press the corresponding stickered key on the keyboard in front of them. The on-screen instructions advised participants to keep both hands in a specifically directed position on the keyboard for the duration of the block. There was 1 second between the presentation of each subsequent square. There was a '+' symbol set at the centre of the screen and the generated squares would appear on either side of the + symbol at a set position. The purpose of this was to give participants a general idea of the centre of the screen near which the coloured squares would appear. This can be seen in **Figure C.**

The speed and accuracy of the participant in pressing the appropriate key was measured and recorded by the test through PsychoPy. Before beginning, the participant was informed that the test required accuracy and speed. As previously explained, there were no practice trials for these tasks.

The participant then began the first task for 5 minutes. At the 5 min mark, the software provided the participant with a break screen. At this time, the participant was asked to leave the room while the researcher saved the data and toggled the infrasonic sound oscillator

on/off in accordance with counterbalancing before the start of the test. Once the participant returned for the second block, the participant then performed the same task for another 5 min. The data for block 2 was recorded during the activity. This created two data sets, one each for block 1 and 2 (one including and one without the presence of infra sonic sound).



Figure C. The experimental paradigm used in the Simon Test.

2.2.4. The n-back test

The n-back task is a continuous performance task that measures working memory and working memory capacity (Kirchner, 1958;Gazzaniga et al., 2009). This test had similarly been used by Weichenberger et al. (2015) to study the impact of short term exposure to infrasonic sound to show difference in brain activity in the presence of infrasound (cerebral stimulation of the Brodmann areas 41,42). The participant is presented with a sequential stimulus set and the task consists of indicating when the current stimulus matches the one from 'n' (pre-defined) steps earlier in the sequence. It was chosen as a task as it would allow us to see if there was any disruption to the working memory responses when exposed to infrasonic sound. The n-back is a commonly used and established task and is a good indicator of working memory (Gajewski et al., 2018; Coulacoglou & Saklofske, 2017).

Similar to the other task, the infrasonic sound oscillator was turned on or off in accordance with counterbalancing before the start of the test. Doing so meant in an instance where the

block required the infrasonic sound to be present it could be started and where the block required that the infrasonic sound to be absent it could be turned off prior to the start of the block. The initial screen then asked the participant to fill in their age, gender, experiment block number and participant number. The infrasonic sound oscillator was toggled on or off as required to counterbalance. Instructions regarding how to proceed were given via the software itself. The appropriate response keys were stickered.

The option to continue if the instructions were clear remained on the computer screen until the spacebar key was pressed. The participant was also given the option to address any confusion by speaking to the researcher before the task began. After pressing the spacebar, the participant was shown a pre-determined sequence of up to 7 colours (red, yellow, blue, cyan, magenta, white or green) and was expected to press the indicated stickered key when they saw the same colour repeated after 2 spaces (2 back test).

The colour stimulus was presented in the form of a 5 cm x 5 cm opaque square and participants were required to press the indicated stickered key. A sequence with repetition after 2 spaces was chosen (2-back test) as participants found a 3-back version difficult during the pilot phase. Each square was present on the screen for 2 seconds. There was 1 second between the presentation of each subsequent square. There was a central '+' symbol set at the centre of the screen and the generated squares would appear overlapping the + symbol at a set position in the centre of the screen. This can be seen in **Figure D**.

The participant performed the task for 5 min before reaching a break screen. During this time, the data sets were collated for block one. Since this was a pre-determined sequence, at this point the researcher swapped out the sequence for a second prepared sequence to prevent habituation. While there were two predetermined sequences used, this was counterbalanced across the block order.

The infrasonic sound oscillator was toggled on or off with relation to counterbalancing. The participant then performed the same task for another 5 min (with a different sequence). The data for block 2 was recorded during the activity. This creates two data sets, one each for block 1 and 2 (one including and one without the presence of infrasonic sound).



Figure D. The experimental paradigm used in the n-back test. Figure not to scale.

At the end of this participants were provided with a brief questionnaire **(Appendix viii)** that asked if they had identified any sound during the experiment, what they believed the purpose of the experiment to be and any further open-ended comments they may have. This allowed the researcher to determine whether there was a conscious rejection of the external sounds, whether the participants had considered that this was infrasonic sound (if so whether their pre-conceived expectations had affected the outcomes of the test), whether their awareness of the sound or deception influenced the way they performed the tasks.

A debrief explaining the nature of the infrasonic frequency presence during the experiment took place at the end of the experiment. Post debrief, participants were asked not to reveal the use of infrasonic sound to others who might take part. This was done to avoid demand characteristics.

2.3. Data analysis

The first dependent variable was accuracy, determined by proportion correct. Here the number of trials responded to correctly when divided by the number of total trials, gave us an accuracy level. This was measured in percentage (%). The second dependent variable was response time, determined by the arithmetic mean of all correct response times of the trials (within the block). This was measured in milliseconds (ms). Data outliers for reaction time were discarded by the removal of 2.5 standard deviations above and below to prevent gross deviation or experimental error from impacting the study (Grubbs, 1969; Maddala, 1992).

A Bayesian hypothesis test in the form of Bayes factor was calculated using the software JASP. The Bayes factor is described as a likelihood ratio of the marginal likelihood of two hypotheses. This is normally the null and an alternative hypothesis (Good & Hardin, 2012). For a data set such as the one present for this experiment, the Bayes factor was useful as it quantifies the support of one model over another without needing models to be correct (Ly et al., 2016).



Figure E: The bayes factor classification graphical representation as probability wheels

In **Figure E**, the JASP guidelines for conducting and reporting a Bayesian analysis (van Doorn et al., 2020) shows us the evidence represented in the form of probability wheels.

Here the ratio of red (hypothesis affirmation) to white (null hypothesis) shows the corresponding level of support for each hypothesis.

We see that as the Bayes factor moves away from 1 (which is an equal indicator of the hypothesis being 1 or 0) it gains a degree of strength either for or against the hypothesis. Bayes factors from 1-3 are seen as weak, Bayes factors from 3-10 are seen as moderate, and Bayes factors above 10 are seen as strong evidence (van Doorn et al., 2020). The resulting likelihood ratio or Bayes factor thus tells us whether the observed finding is most likely to have occurred under either the null or alternative hypothesis (Leppink et al., 2017).

As detailed in the introduction, the amount of supporting literature on this topic was quite limited when this study was first conceived, and the potential for either a positive or negative effect was equally likely. The Bayes factor analysis was used to support the originally chosen frequentist inference. There was a high chance that while the effect would be statistically significant, it would only be present under specific circumstances, for example in parts of the test or showing dual effects over different tests. The Bayes factor was therefore useful to see how strong the support for either side of a two tailed hypothesis would be.

3. Results

3.1. Response times

Data outliers for reaction time were discarded by the removal of 2.5 standard deviations above and below. 3 participants from the Simon test were excluded due to being data outliers.

	Mean	Ν	Std. deviation
Simon test (no infrasonic sound)	466.78	37	46.63
Simon test (infrasonic sound)	481.64	37	67.68
n-back test (no infrasonic sound)	576.29	40	102.82
n-back test (infrasonic sound)	590.14	40	98.72

Table 1. Reaction time data set from Simon and n-back tests with and without infrasonic sound (ms).

A statistically significant increase in response time was shown in the presence of infrasonic sound in comparison to response time without infrasonic sound, during the Simon Test, t(36) = -2.306, p = .027, d = -.379, BF₁₀ = 1.82. No statistically reliable difference between the response time with infrasonic sound and response time without infrasonic sound, during the n-back Test, t(39) = -1.166, p = .251, d = -.184, BF01 = 3.122, BF₁₀ = 0.32. On average participants exposed to infrasound during the Simon test showed an increase in response time to the stimuli. However, this was not seen during the n-back test. There was no difference in response time in participants performing the n- back test in either group.

3.2. Accuracy

Data outliers for reaction time were discarded by the removal of 2.5 standard deviations above and below. 1 participant was excluded from the Simon test and 1 from the n-back due to being data outliers.

Ν Std. Deviation Mean Simon test (no infrasonic sound) 96.30 39 2.33 Simon test (infrasonic sound) 96.08 2.43 39 n-back test (no infrasonic sound) 91.01 39 15.43 n-back test (infrasonic sound) 91.06 39 15.48

Table 2. Accuracy data from Simon and n-back tests with and without infrasound (%).

No statistically reliable difference between the accuracy levels with the presence and without of infrasonic sound during the Simon Test, t(38) = .559, p = .580, d = .089, BF01 = 5.006, BF₁₀ = 0.19. No statistically reliable difference between the accuracy levels with the presence and without of infrasonic sound was indicated during the n-back Test, t(38) = -.068, p = .946, d = -.011, BF01 = 5.781, BF₁₀ = 0.17. Participants of the Simon test showed no change to their accuracy in either group. This was consistent with accuracy during the n-back test, as there was no difference in accuracy between either group here too.

Notes:

It is interesting to note that of 43 participants, 3 (6.9%) were able to detect the presence of a sound (none identified this as infrasonic sound). This is despite being unaware of the infrasonic sound exposure, owing to the pre-task study briefing informing them that it was to gather data on attention spans. The participants broadly described this as a barely audible uncomfortable hum. They were unable to describe any specifics, nor were there any details that were common across all three participants. This information was meant to inform a subsequent study involving the placebo and nocebo effect.

While this subsequent study expanding on the first set of experiments was begun (Figure F), it was forced to shut down due to the legislation surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic for the greater part of the following two years. The overall number of participants (n=5) was too few to draw any meaningful conclusion from their results as to what impact their awareness or priming had on performance. The experiment was approved by the School of Psychology Ethics Committee at the University of Leeds (PS-668) (Appendix ix). The priming information and debrief for this study are included in the Appendix (Appendix x and Appendix xi). Due to prevention of travel, inter-personal meetings, access to labs and national level shutdowns, it was not possible to recruit further participants and continue. The precise nature of the technical setup required to deliver infrasonic sound and other technical aspects meant that the study was unable to pivot to an online model. This was initially attempted using the online experimentation tool GORILLA for experimentation, but was found to be not feasible.

No Expectation		Positive Expectation		Negative Expectation	
Simon test	n-back test	Simon test	n-back test	Simon test	n-back test
Accuracy (Infrasound)					
Accuracy (No					
Infrasound)	Infrasound)	Infrasound)	Infrasound)	Infrasound)	Infrasound)
Reaction time					
(Infrasound)	(Infrasound)	(Infrasound)	(Infrasound)	(Infrasound)	(Infrasound)
Reaction time					
(No Infrasound)					

Figure F. Planned expansion of study to include positive and negative expectation (priming) arms.

A larger sample size would have allowed an analysis on this presumed population who are able to detect very low frequency sound, and it may be relevant to determine how prevalent the ability to detect infrasonic sound is in a general population. There is no reliable research to inform this at the time of study.

4. Discussion

This study is to the best of my knowledge the first non fMRI study to look at the direct impact of infrasonic sound on cognition during short term exposure, picking up from exploratory studies using fMRI (Wiechenberger et al., 2015,2017;Dommes et al., 2009) that established the potential for infrasonic sound to have an impact. This study set out to prove that exposure to controlled short bursts of infrasonic sound would have an effect on cognitive functioning in a manner which is measurable through simple reaction time and accuracy (in the absence of priming or expectation). To this end while there was found to be no impact on working memory, there was a statistically signification disruption of attention which was reflected in the form of impaired reaction time in the presence of infrasound. The increased attentional requirement (cognitive demands) for working memory in the nback task may have allowed for unconscious sensory gating to suppress the unwanted infrasonic sound as it demanded additional cognitive resources and prevent completion of the task (Nakajima et al., 2019; Miller & Cohen, 2001; Petersen & Posner, 2012). This is potentially why we see that the n-back which had greater demands on working memory (Jaeggi, 2010) was unaffected, whereas the Simon test which was a simple reaction time test was negatively impacted. It is known that auditory stimulus irrelevant to the task can disrupt visual decisions in a Simon task (Simon & Craft, 1970). The task traditionally showing faster reaction times to visual stimuli when compared to auditory stimuli during cross modal stimulus exposure (Donohue et al., 2013). This suggests that the Simon test is more sensitive to auditory interference. Response to the presence of infrasonic sound may vary when faced with differing cognitive demands and the observable stimulation of the central nervous system (Weichenberger et al., 2015; Dommes et al., 2009) does not always correlate directly with behavioural responses.

The Bayes factor finding showing a statistically significant but weak effect, supports the understanding that the effect of infrasonic sound may often be overlooked despite being nearly omnipresent (Ghadiali & Trivedi, 2015). This is because it is largely inaudible to the human auditory system (Berglund et al., 1996) and is easily masked by other sound (Gelfand, 2004). Which means that a non-prominent or subtle impact on cognition would not always be noticeable and subsequently not be attributed to infrasonic sound.

The project initially set out to find out the results of short-term exposure to infrasonic frequencies to better understand how this could be used positively to provide cognitive enhancement by enhancing or inhibiting the presence of infrasonic sound in an environment. The findings of this study could help create a better study or work environment by noting that the infrasonic sound emitted by equipment, machinery, traffic or ambient noise could have a negative impact on attention. Studies in players of esports show that response time may be

crucial in skill level (Toth et al., 2019; Hagiwara et al., 2022), and masking or accounting for a detrimental impact to this could therefore be beneficial to performance. This would also be true for driving reaction times, where split section reactions could mean the difference between a fatal crash in non-automated vehicles (Nordhoff et al., 2019). Perhaps most importantly the findings of this study will contribute to the literature on verifiable known attributes of infrasonic sound, to help dispel the unsupported information commonly found in the media (Roosth, 2018).

4.1. Limitations and future directions

While previous studies using fMRI (Weichenberger et al., 2015,2017;Dommes et al., 2009) were able to establish the potential for infrasonic sound to have an effect, but a challenge to this study remained the large amount of sensationalised and unattributed information (Roosth, 2018), not based in scientific research, leading some studies to take negative assumptions as fact (Pierpont, 2009).

The pool of participants could only be used for sets of experiments prior to debrief, as they would then be aware of the presence of the infrasonic sound during experiments. This would have been a useful carryover into the second planned study where participants would be primed (created expectation) using positive or negative information before completing tasks

(Appendix x and Appendix xii).

A potential future study would examine the placebo/nocebo effect which the research literature identified as having a potential impact on participants.

Previous studies suggested that positive or negative expectations can have an effect on physiological responses, enhancing, counteracting or even negating the effects of stimuli in alignment with expectation (Crichton, 2014). Tonin et al. (2016) were able to show that

infrasound had no effect reported without priming or expectation during long term exposure, while pre-conceived notions about the potential effects created a sharp rise in reported symptoms.

Infrasonic sound frequencies by nature are quite difficult to effectively create and disseminate due to their being inaudible, the issue of auditory masking and the differing hearing ability of the human population. Individuals may have varying hearing upper and lower limits based on the condition of the auditory and nervous system, these systems begin to change with age (Rogriguez et al., 2014) and as a result being able to perceive infrasonic sound varies. There seems to be a gender and age based disparity regarding frequency perception as well (Moller, 2014;Gelfand, 2004). A thorough testing of how prevalent the ability to detect infrasonic sound (auditory threshold) is in a general population is, would be beneficial to future studies.

Sound has been shown to have an effect on heart rate, pupil dilation and galvanic skinresponse when the participant is aware of the sound (Sim et al., 2015;Liao et al., 2016;Engelien et al., 2000). By measuring these individual aspects, we can potentially support the argument of unconscious perception of infrasonic sound and use this data along with hearing threshold to create a baseline of conscious and unconscious perception of infrasonic sound.

4.2. Concluding Remarks

In summary, the experiment was able to provide a conclusion to the proposed effect potential of short term exposure to infrasonic sound (Weichenberger et al., 2015, 2017; Dommes et al., 2009), by showing an increase in average reaction time to stimuli while in the presence of infrasonic sound for some cognitive tasks but not others. A controlled investigation of the effects hypothesised by these studies was carried out as well as an examination of related effects and phenomena. It was determined that accuracy when conducting cognitive tasks like the n-back or Simon test may not affected by the presence of infrasonic frequencies in a significant way. While no change to reaction time was observed in the working memory task, the simple reaction time task showed an increase in average reaction time to stimuli when in the presence of infrasonic sound in an environment requiring computer-based information processing tasks.

As outlined in the introduction and general discussion, the aim of this project was to explore the possibility of a short term impact on cognition, with the added aspect of priming or lack of being involved. Research exploring variations of tasks relating to other forms of cognitive engagement, the impact of priming and the placebo/nocebo effect would be able to create a stronger profile of the potential to impact cognitive capability. Since there is a measurable impact under certain circumstances, the impact of infrasonic sound in other non-controlled environments should be further explored. Regardless of the outcomes of future research, the current study suggests support for the hypothesis that the presence of infrasonic frequencies has a detectable effect on cognition.

5. References

Ascone, L., Kling, C., Wieczorek, J., Koch, C., & Kühn, S. (2021). A longitudinal, randomized experimental pilot study to investigate the effects of airborne infrasound on human mental health, cognition, and brain structure. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1). doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-82203-6

Attwood, B. Bourgognon, J. Patel, Mucha, S. Schiavon, E.Skrzypiec, A. (2011) .Neuropsin cleaves EphB2 in the amygdala to control anxiety, *Nature*, 473, pp. 372-375

American Psychological Association. (2021). Retrieved 4 August 2021, from https://dictionary.apa.org/cognition

Baddeley, A. (1992). Working Memory. *Science*. 255(5044), 556–559. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1736359

Baddeley, A. (2010). Working memory. Current Biology. 20(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CUB.2009.12.014

Battey, B. & Amedlides, P. (2013) Review of Alessandro Cipriani and Maurizio Giri, "Electronic Music and Sound Design: Theory and Practice with Max/MSP, Vol1, trans. David Stutz. *Organised Sound*, 18 (2), pp. 231-232.

Bartholomew, R., & Wessely, S. (2002). Protean nature of mass sociogenic illness. *British Journal Of Psychiatry*, *180*(4), 300-306. doi: 10.1192/bjp.180.4.300

Ben-David, A. (2004). New non-lethal weapon shouts a warning to rioters. *Jane Defence Weekly*, *41*, 14.

Berglund, B., Hassmén, P., & Job, R. F. S. (1998). Sources and effects of low-frequency noise. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 99(5), 2985. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.414863

Bilski, B. (2017). Exposure to infrasonic noise in agriculture. *Annals Of Agricultural And Environmental Medicine*, 24(1), 86-89. Doi: 10.5604/12321966.1233897

Booth, C. (1949). "Nomenclature of Frequencies". *The Post Office Electrical Engineers' Journal*. 42 (1): 47–48.

Boretti, A., Ordys, A., & Al Zubaidy, S. (2018). Infra-sound cancellation and mitigation in wind turbines. *Nonlinear Engineering*, 7(1), 73-81. Doi:10.1515/nleng-2017-0071

Brevers, D., Noël, X., Bechara, A., Vanavermaete, N., Verbanck, P., & Kornreich, C. (2015). Effect of Casino-Related Sound, Red Light and Pairs on Decision-Making During the Iowa Gambling Task. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 31(2), 409. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10899-013-9441-2

Brooke-Wavell, K., & Mansfield, N. (2008). Risks and benefits of whole body vibration training in older people. *Age And Ageing*, *38*(3), 254-255. Doi:10.1093/ageing/afp036

Brown, S. W. (2008). The attenuation effect in timing: Counteracting dual-task interference with timejudgment skill training. *Perception*, 37(5), 712–724. https://doi.org/10.1068/p5698

Cannon, W. (1932) Wisdom of the Body (1st Ed.). United States: W.W Norton and Company.

Carlson, J. S., Jensen, C. M., & Widaman, K. F. (1983). Reaction time, intelligence, and attention. *Intelligence*, 7(4), 329–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/0160-2896(83)90008-9

Cespón, J., Hommel, B., Korsch, M., & Galashan, D. (2020). The neurocognitive underpinnings of the Simon effect: An integrative review of current research. *Cognitive, Affective, &Amp; Behavioral Neuroscience, 20*(6), 1133-1172. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13415-020-00836-y

Che, I., Park, J., Kim, I., Kim, T., & Lee, H. (2014). Infrasound signals from the underground nuclear explosions of North Korea. *Geophysical Journal International*, *198*(1), 495-503. doi:10.1093/gji/ggu150

Cohen, Z. (2018). *New audio adds to mystery of Cuba attacks*. Retrieved 31 September 2021, from <u>https://edition.cnn.com/2017/10/13/politics/cuba-us-diplomats-acoustic-weapons/index.html</u>

Colby, W.; Dobie, R.; Leventhall, G.; Lipscomb, D.; McCunney, R.; Seilo, M.; Søndergaard, B. (2009). Wind Turbine Sound and Health Effects: An Expert Panel Review. *Report by American Wind Energy Association (AWEA) and Canadian Wind Energy Association (CanWEA)*. 85.

Colloca, L., & Miller, F. (2011). Harnessing the placebo effect: the need for translational research. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *366*(1572), 1922-1930. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2010.0399

Coulacoglou, C., & Saklofske, D. (2017). Executive Function, Theory of Mind, and Adaptive Behavior. *Psychometrics And Psychological Assessment*, 91-130. doi: 10.1016/b978-0-12-802219-1.00005-5

Centers for Disease Control. (2019) Common Sources of Noise and Decibel Levels. Retrieved 10 October 2021, from https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/hearing_loss/what_noises_cause_hearing_loss.html

Crawford, F. (1968). Waves (Berkeley Physics Course, Vol. 3). New York - McGraw-Hill.

Crichton, F., Dodd, G., Schmid, G., Gamble, G., & Petrie, K. (2014). Can expectations produce symptoms from infrasound associated with wind turbines? *Health Psychology*, *33*(4), 360-364. doi: 10.1037/a0031760

Cover, J., Curd, M., (1998), Philosophy of Science: The Central Issues, pp. 1-82

Davison, N. (2006). Bradford Non-Lethal Weapons Research Project (BNLWRP). Occasional paper No. 1. *The Early History of Non-Lethal Weapons.* Bradford: University of Bradford, Department of Peace Studies.

Diamond, D., Campbell, A., Park, C., Halonen, J., Zoladz, P. (2007) The temporal dynamics model of emotional memory processing: a synthesis on the neurobiological basis of stress-induced amnesia, flashbulb and traumatic memories, and the Yerkes-Dodson law. *Neural Plasticity*. doi:10.1155/2007/60803

Dommes, E., Bauknecht, H., Scholz, G., Rothemund, Y., Hensel, J., & Klingebiel, R. (2009). Auditory cortex stimulation by low-frequency tones—an fMRI study. *Brain Research*, *1304*, 129-137. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2009.09.089

Donohue, S., Appelbaum, L., Park, C., Roberts, K. and Woldorff, M., (2013). Cross-Modal Stimulus Conflict: The Behavioral Effects of Stimulus Input Timing in a Visual-Auditory Stroop Task. *PLoS ONE*, 8(4), p.e62802.

Du, F., Yin, L., Shi, M., Cheng, H., Xu, X., & Liu, Z. et al. (2010). Involvement of microglial cells in infrasonic noise-induced stress via upregulated expression of corticotrophin releasing hormone type 1 receptor. *Neuroscience*, *167*(3), 909-919. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.02.060

Edwards, J., & Cooper, C. (1988). The impacts of positive psychological states on physical health: A review and theoretical framework. *Social Science & Medicine*, 27(12), 1447-1459. doi: 10.1016/0277-9536(88)90212-2

Engelien, A. et al. (2000). The neural correlates of `deaf-hearing' in man: Conscious sensory awareness enabled by attentional modulation. *Brain*, *123*(3), 532-545. doi: 10.1093/brain/123.3.532

Engle, R., Kane, M., & Tuholski, S. (1999). Individual differences in working memory capacity and what they tell us about controlled attention, general fluid intelligence, and functions of the prefrontal cortex. *Models of Working Memory*, 102–134. https://doi.org/10.1017/cbo9781139174909.007

Engle, R. (2002). Working Memory Capacity as Executive Attention. *Current Directions In Psychological Science*, *11*(1), 19-23. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.00160

Erfani, V., Goodarzi, K., Ebrahimi, M., Roozbahani, M. (2020). The effects of ultrasound, infrasound, and electroconvulsive stimulations on anxiety-like behavior in mice. *International Journal of Psychology (IPA)*, 14(1), 114-134. doi: 10.22034/ijpb.2020.202183.1119

EU. (2002) Directive 2002/49/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 June 2002 relating to the assessment and management of environmental noise. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A32002L0049

Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39, 175-191.

Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyzes using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41, 1149-1160.

Ferreira, J. R., Monteiro, M., Tavares, F., Serrano, I., Monteiro, E., & Mendes, C. et al. (2006). Involvement of central airways in vibroacoustic disease patients. *Revista Portuguesa De Pneumologia* (*English Edition*), *12*(2), 93-105. doi: 10.1016/s2173-5115(06)70391-8

Foraster, M., Esnaola, M., López-Vicente, M., Rivas, I., Álvarez-Pedrerol, M., & Persavento, C. et al. (2022). Exposure to road traffic noise and cognitive development in schoolchildren in Barcelona, Spain: A population-based cohort study. *PLOS Medicine*, *19*(6), e1004001. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1004001

Gajewski, P., Hanisch, E., Falkenstein, M., Thönes, S., & Wascher, E. (2018). What Does the n-Back Task Measure as We Get Older? Relations Between Working-Memory Measures and Other Cognitive Functions Across the Lifespan. *Frontiers In Psychology*, 9. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02208

Gazzaniga, Michael S.; Ivry, Richard B.; Mangun, George R. (2009). Cognitive Neuroscience: The Biology of the Mind (2nd ed.).

Garces, M. & Willis, M. (2006). *Modeling and Characterization of Microbarom Signals in the Pacific*. Virginia, USA: Ft. Belvoir Defense Technical Information Center.

Garcés, M., Hetzer, C., Merrifield, M., Willis, M., & Aucan, J. (2003). Observations of surf infrasound in Hawai'i. *Geophysical Research Letters*, *30*(24), 2264. doi: 10.1029/2003gl018614

García A. (2001). Environmental Urban Noise. Boston - MA Wentworth Institute of Technology Press.

Gelfand, S. (2004) *Hearing – An Introduction to Psychological and Physiological Acoustics* 4th Ed. New York, Marcel Dekker

Ghadiali, A., & Trivedi, M. (2015). Infrasonic Waves Sources, Effects, Generation and Applications. *International Journal Of Recent Advances In Engineering & Technology*, *3*(11), 2347 - 2812.

Glass, D. C., & Singer, J. E. (1972) Urban stress: Experiments on noise and social stressors. New York: Academic Press

Gordon, J. (1877). Certain Molar Movements of the Human Body produced by the Circulation of the Blood. *Journal of Anatomy and Physiology*. 11 (Pt 3) (Pt 3): 533–536.

Good, P., Hardin, J. (2012). *Common errors in statistics (and how to avoid them)* (4th ed.). Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons, Inc. pp. 129–131. ISBN 978-1118294390.

Goodman, S. (1999). "Toward evidence-based medical statistics. 1: The P value fallacy". *Ann Intern Med.* 130 (12): 995–1004. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-130-12-199906150-00008

Grubbs, F. (1969). "Procedures for detecting outlying observations in samples". *Technometrics*, 11 (1): 1–21. doi:10.1080/00401706.1969.10490657

Haddad, S. (1989). An Investigation into the Significance of Infrasound in some Passenger Cars, SAE *Technical Paper 891158*, doi:10.4271/891158.

Häuser, W., Hansen, E., & Enck, P. (2012). Nocebo Phenomena in Medicine. *Deutsches Aerzteblatt Online*. doi: 10.3238/arztebl.2012.0459

Hommel, B. (2011). The Simon effect as tool and heuristic. *Acta Psychologica*, *136*(2), 189-202. doi: 10.1016/j.actpsy.2010.04.011

Hróbjartsson, A., & Gøtzsche, P. (2010). Placebo interventions for all clinical conditions. *Cochrane Database Of Systematic Reviews*. doi: 10.1002/14651858.cd003974.pub3

Huang, Z. et al. (2003). The psychological effect of minesweeping infrasonic field. *Chinese Journal of Industrial Hygiene and Occupational Diseases*, 21(1), 27-29.

International Bureau of Weights and Measures (2019). The International System of Units (SI), 9th edition. 28(5), 130.

Ising, H. and Braun, C. (2000). Acute and chronic endocrine effects of noise: Review of the research conducted at the Institute for Water, Soil and Air Hygiene. *Noise & Health*, 7, 7-24.

Jaeggi, S.M., Buschkuehl, M., Perrig, W.J., & Meier, B. (2010). The concurrent validity of the N-back task as a working memory measure. *Memory*, *18*, , 394–412.

Jauchem, J., & Cook, M. (2007). High-Intensity Acoustics for Military Nonlethal Applications: A Lack of Useful Systems. *Military Medicine*, *172*(2), 182-189. Doi:10.7205/milmed.172.2.182

Jiang, S., Wang, Y., Xu, C., Li, Y., Guo, R., & Li, L. (2014). Involvement of Connexin43 in the Infrasonic Noise-Induced Glutamate Release by Cultured Astrocytes. *Neurochemical Research*, *39*(5), 833-842. doi: 10.1007/s11064-014-12773

Kaczmarska, A., & Łuczak, A. (2007). A Study of Annoyance Caused by Low-Frequency Noise during Mental Work. *International Journal of Occupational Safety and Ergonomics*, *13*(2), 117-125. doi: 10.1080/10803548.2007.11076715

Kakigi, R., Naka, D., Okusa, T., Wang, X., Inui, K., & Qiu, Y. et al. (2003). Sensory perception during sleep in humans: a magnetoencephalograhic study. *Sleep Medicine*, *4*(6), 493-507. doi: 10.1016/s1389-9457(03)00169-2

Kastelein, R., van der Heul, S., Verboom, W., Triesscheijn, R., & Jennings, N. (2006). The influence of underwater data transmission sounds on the displacement behaviour of captive harbour seals (Phoca vitulina). *Marine Environmental Research*, *61*(1), 19-39. Doi: 10.1016/j.marenvres.2005.04.001

Kastelein, R., Heul, S., Verboom, W., Jennings, N., Veen, J., & Haan, D. (2008). Startle response of captive North Sea fish species to underwater tones between 0.1 and 64kHz. *Marine Environmental Research*, *65*(5), 369-377. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2008.01.001

Kelly, J.R.; Iannone, R.E.; McCarty, M.K. (2014). The function of shared affect in groups. *Collective Emotions*. OUP Oxford.

Kirchner, W. K. (1958). Age differences in short-term retention of rapidly changing information. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*. 55, 352–358. doi: 10.1037/h0043688

Kinsler, L.E., Frey, A.R., Coppens, A.B. and Sanders, J.V. (2000) *Fundamentals of Acoustics*. 4th Edition, John Wiley and Sons Inc., Hoboken.

Kreithen, M.L., Quine, D.B. (1979) Infrasound detection by the homing pigeon: A behavioral audiogram. *The Journal of Comparative Physiology*, 129, 1–4. doi:10.1007/BF00679906

Klapuri, A., & Davy, M. (2009). *Signal processing methods for music transcription*. Springer Science and Business media.

Kroemer, K. (1994). Ergonomics: How to design for ease and efficiency. Prentice Hall: London.

Haak, H. (2006). Probing the Atmosphere with Infrasound: Infrasound as a tool. [Online] CTBT: Synergies with Science, 1996–2006 and Beyond. Preparatory Commission for the Comprehensive Nuclear-Test-Ban Treaty Organization. [Accessed: 30 September 2021].

Langbauer, W.R. et al. (1991). African elephants respond to distant playbacks of low-frequency conspecific calls. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 157, 35–46.

Lay, T. (1998). The comprehensive Nuclear Test Ban Treaty and Seismological Research. *Seismological Research Letters*, *69*(1), 3-5. Doi:10.1785/gssrl.69.1.3

Lazarus, R. S. (1966). Psychological stress and the coping process. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.

Lazarus, R. (1993). From Psychological Stress to the Emotions: A History of Changing Outlooks. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *44*(1), 1-21. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.44.1.1

Lazarus, R., & Folkman, S. (2013). Stress, appraisal, and coping. New York: Springer.

Leppink, J., O'Sullivan, P., & Winston, K. (2017). Evidence against vs. in favour of a null hypothesis. *Perspectives On Medical Education*, *6*(2), 115-118. doi: 10.1007/s40037-017-0332-6

Leventhall, G., Pelmear, P. and Benton, S. (2003). A review of published research on low frequency noise and its effects. *UK Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs.* https://doi.org/EPG1/2/50

Leventhall G. (2007) What is infrasound? *Progress in Biophysics & Molecular Biology*. 93(1-3):130-7. doi:10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2006.07.006.

Liao H. I., Kidani S., Yoneya M., Kashino M., Furukawa S. (2016) Correspondences among pupillary dilation response, subjective salience of sounds, and loudness. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review* 23(2): 412–425. doi:10.3758/s13423-015-0898-0.

Lonzaga, J., Waxler, R., Assink, J., & Talmadge, C. (2015). Modelling waveforms of infrasound arrivals from impulsive sources using weakly non-linear ray theory. *Geophysical Journal International*, *200*(3), 1347-1361. doi:10.1093/gji/ggu479

Lupien, S., Maheu, F., Tu, M., Fiocco, A., & Schramek, T. (2007). The effects of stress and stress hormones on human cognition: Implications for the field of brain and cognition. *Brain And Cognition*, *65*(3), 209-237. Doi:.1016/j.bandc.2007.02.007

Ly, A., Verhagen, J., Wagenmakers, E. (2016). "Harold Jeffreys's default Bayes factor hypothesis tests: Explanation, extension, and application in psychology". *Journal of Mathematical Psychology*. **72**: 19–32. doi:10.1016/j.jmp.2015.06.004.

Maddala, G. (1992). Outliers: Introduction to Econometrics (2nd ed.). New York: MacMillan. p. 89.

Matoza R., Fee D., Green D., Mialle P. (2019) Volcano Infrasound and the International Monitoring System. In: Le Pichon A., Blanc E., Hauchecorne A. (eds) Infrasound Monitoring for Atmospheric Studies. Springer, Cham. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-75140-5_33

Miller, E. and Cohen, J., (2001). An Integrative Theory of Prefrontal Cortex Function. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 24(1), pp.167-202.

Ministry of Defence (1999). Strategic Export Controls: Annual Report. London, United Kingdom

Moller, Aage R. (2006). *Hearing: Anatomy, Physiology, and Disorders of the Auditory System* (2 ed.). Academic Press. p. 217. ISBN 9780080463841.

Monk, E. (2004). Student mental health: the case studies. *Counselling Psychology Quarterly*, 17(4), 395-412. doi: 10.1080/09515070412331331200

Moore, B. (1996). Perceptual Consequences of Cochlear Hearing Loss and their Implications for the Design of Hearing Aids. *Ear And Hearing*, *17*(2), 133-161. doi: 10.1097/00003446-199604000-00007

Morey, Richard D.; Romeijn, Jan-Willem; Rouder, Jeffrey N. (2016). "The philosophy of Bayes factors and the quantification of statistical evidence". *Journal of Mathematical Psychology*. **72**: 6–18. doi:10.1016/j.jmp.2015.11.00

Moss, R. & Lockie, I. (1979). Infrasonic components in the song of the Capercaillie Tetrao Urogallus. *International Journal of Avian Science*, 121, 95–97. doi:10.1111/j.1474-919x.1979.tb05021.x

Mourlam, M., & Orliac, M. (2017). Infrasonic and Ultrasonic Hearing Evolved after the Emergence of Modern Whales. *Current Biology*, 27(12), 1776-1781.e9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.04.061

Mutschlecner, J. (2005). Infrasound from earthquakes. *Journal Of Geophysical Research*, *110*(D1). Doi: 10.1029/2004jd005067

National Aeronautics and Space Administration. (2014). NASA Langley Researchers Nab Invention of the Year for Infrasound Detection System. Retrieved 6 August 2021, from https://www.nasa.gov/larc/nasa-langley-researchers-nab-invention-of-the-year-for-infrasound-detection-system/.

Nakajima, M., Schmitt, L., & Halassa, M. (2019). Prefrontal Cortex Regulates Sensory Filtering through a Basal Ganglia-to-Thalamus Pathway. *Neuron*, *103*(3), 445-458.e10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2019.05.026

Niendam, T., Laird, A., Ray, K., Dean, Y., Glahn, D., & Carter, C. (2012). Meta-analytic evidence for a superordinate cognitive control network subserving diverse executive functions. Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience, 12(2), 241-268. doi: 10.3758/s13415-011-0083-5

Nordhoff, S., Kyriakidis, M., van Arem, B., & Happee, R. (2019). A multi-level model on automated vehicle acceptance (MAVA): a review-based study. *Theoretical Issues In Ergonomics Science*, *20*(6), 682-710. https://doi.org/10.1080/1463922x.2019.1621406

Noseworthy, T. J., & Finlay, K. (2009). A Comparison of ambient casino sound and music: Effects on dissociation and on perceptions of elapsed time while playing slot machines. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 25(3), 331–342. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10899-009-9136-X/TABLES/2

Nowacki, G., Mitraszewska, I., Kami, T., Ski, & Wierzejski, A. (2009). OF INFRASOUND NOISE IN HEAVY GOODS VEHICLE AND BUSSES, *Journal of KONES Powertrain and Transport*,14(3).

Okada, S. (1990). Study on the measurement of infrasound and perceptible response to infrasound in life environment. *Japanese Journal of Health and Human Ecology*, *56*(5), 236-250. doi:10.3861/jshhe.56.236

Okai, O. (1986). Effects of Infrasound on Respiratory Function of Man. *Journal Of Low Frequency Noise, Vibration And Active Control*, *5*(3), 94-99. doi: 10.1177/026309238600500301

Olson, H. F. 1967. Music, Physics and Engineering. New York: Dover Publications.

O'Sullivan, G. (2010). The Relationship between Hope, Eustress, Self-Efficacy, and Life Satisfaction among Undergraduates. *Social Indicators Research*, *101*(1), 155-172. doi: 10.1007/s11205-010-9662-z

Owen, A., McMillan, K., Laird, A., & Bullmore, E. (2005). N-back working memory paradigm: A metaanalysis of normative functional neuroimaging studies. *Human Brain Mapping*, *25*(1), 46-59. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.20131

Pei, Z., Sang, H., Li, R., Xiao, P., He, J., & Zhuang, Z. et al. (2007). Infrasound-induced hemodynamic, ultrastructure, and molecular changes in the rat myocardium. *Environmental Toxicology*, 22(2), 169-175. doi: 10.1002/tox.20244

Peirce, J., Gray, J., Simpson, S., MacAskill, M., Höchenberger, R., & Sogo, H. et al. (2019). PsychoPy2: Experiments in behavior made easy. *Behavior Research Methods*, *51*(1), 195-203. doi: 10.3758/s13428-018-01193-y

Peirce, J. (2008). Generating stimuli for neuroscience using PsychoPy. *Frontiers In Neuroinformatics*, 2. doi: 10.3389/neuro.11.010.2008

Peirce, J., & MacAskill, M. (2018) Building experiments in PsychoPy. London: Sage.

Persinger, M. (2014) Infrasound, human health, and adaptation: an integrative overview of recondite hazards in a complex environment. *Natural Hazards*, 70, 501–525. Doi:10.1007/s11069-013-0827-3

Petersen, S. and Posner, M., (2012). The Attention System of the Human Brain: 20 Years After. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 35(1), pp.73-89.

Health Impacts of Crowd-Control Weapons: Acoustic Weapons - Physicians for Human Rights. (2020). Retrieved 21 September 2021, from <u>https://phr.org/our-work/resources/health-impacts-of-crowd-control-weapons-acoustic-weapons/</u>

Jakobsen, L., Sorensen, J., Rask, I., Jensen, B., & Kondrup, J. (2011). Validation of reaction time as a measure of cognitive function and quality of life in healthy subjects and patients. *Nutrition*, *27*(5), 561-570. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2010.08.003

Pierpont, N. (2009). Wind turbine syndrome. Santa Fe, N.M.: K-Selected Books.

Pinheiro, E.; Postolache, O.; Girão, P. (2010). Theory and Developments in an Unobtrusive Cardiovascular System Representation: Ballistocardiography. *The Open Biomedical Engineering Journal*. 4: 201–216. doi:10.2174/1874120701004010201

Prinz, W. & Hommel, B. (2002). Common mechanisms in perception and action: Attention and Performance, Vol. XIX. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Punch, J. & James, R. (2014). Adverse health effects from industrial wind turbines. [Online] *Hearing health Matters*, [Accessed on: 22 December 2018] Available at: http://hearinghealthmatters.org/hearingviews/2014/wind-turbine-health-problems-noise

Purves, D., & Williams, S. (2001). Neuroscience. 2nd edition. Sinauer Associates.

Radak, Z. (2018). *The Physiology of Physical Training* (pp. 111-118). Massachusetts: Academic Press.

Rodríguez Valiente, A., Trinidad, A., García Berrocal, J., Górriz, C., & Ramírez Camacho, R. (2014). Extended high-frequency (9–20 kHz) audiometry reference thresholds in 645 healthy subjects. *International Journal Of Audiology*, *53*(8), 531-545. doi: 10.3109/14992027.2014.893375

Sophia Roosth. (2018). Nineteen Hertz and Below: An Infrasonic History of the Twentieth Century. *Resilience: A Journal Of The Environmental Humanities*, *5*(3), 109. https://doi.org/10.5250/resilience.5.3.0109

Sand O, Karlsen, H. (1986) Detection of infrasound by the Atlantic cod. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 125:197-204

Selye, H. (1976). Stress without distress. In: Serban, G. ed. *Psychopathology of human adaptation.* New York: Springer

Shams, Q., Zuckerwar, A., Burkett, C., Weistroffer, G., & Hugo, D. (2013). Experimental investigation into infrasonic emissions from atmospheric turbulence. *The Journal Of The Acoustical Society Of America*, *133*(3), 1269-1280. Doi:10.1121/1.4776180

Simmons, B. (2000). Eustress at work: Accentuating the positive. Dissertation, Oklahoma State University.

Simmons, B., & Nelson, D. (2001). Eustress at Work: The Relationship between Hope and Health in Hospital Nurses. *Health Care Management Review*, *26*(4), 7-18. doi: 10.1097/00004010-200110000-00002

Simmons, B. L. & Nelson, D. L. (2007). Eustress at Work: Extending the Holistic Stress Model. In: D. Nelson & C.L. Cooper ed. *Positive Organizational Behavior: Accentuating the Positive at Work.* California: SAGE.

Simon, J. and Craft, J., (1970). Effects of an irrelevant auditory stimulus on visual choice reaction time. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 86(2), pp.272-274.

Simon, J., Craft, J., & Webster, J. (1973). Reactions toward the stimulus source: Analysis of correct responses and errors over a five-day period. *Journal Of Experimental Psychology*, *101*(1), 175-178. doi: 10.1037/h0035766

Simon, J. & Rudell, A. (1967). Auditory S-R compatibility: the effect of an irrelevant cue on information processing. Journal of Applied Psychology, 51, 300–304.

Skinner, P., & Antinoro, F. (1969). Auditory Evoked Responses in Normal Hearing Adults and Children Before and During Sedation. *Journal Of Speech And Hearing Research*, *12*(2), 394-401. doi: 10.1044/jshr.1202.394

Stapleton, H. (2004). Sound-Emitting Device. United States of America. Retrieved 6 August 2021, from: https://patents.google.com/patent/US20070037691A1/en

Syracuse Research Corporation. 1980. Infrasonics. In: *Information Profiles on Potential Occupational Hazards*, (Industrial Processes). 3,324-333.

Tan, S., & Yip, A. (2018). Hans Selye (1907–1982): Founder of the stress theory. *Singapore Medical Journal*, *59*(4), 170-171. Doi:10.11622/smedj.2018043

Tandy, V. (1998). The Ghost in the Machine, Journal of the Society for Psychical Research, 62, 851.

Tonin, R., Brett, J., & Colagiuri, B. (2016). The effect of infrasound and negative expectations to adverse pathological symptoms from wind farms. *Journal Of Low Frequency Noise, Vibration and Active Control*, *35*(1), 77-90. doi: 10.1177/0263092316628257

Toth, A. J., Kowal, M., & Campbell, M. J. (2019). The Color-Word Stroop Task Does Not Differentiate Cognitive Inhibition Ability Among Esports Gamers of Varying Expertise. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 2852. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPSYG.2019.02852/BIBTEX

Tumarkin, A. (1968). Evolution of the auditory conducting apparatus in terrestrial vertebrates. In: DeRenck, A. U. S. & Knight, J. ed. *Hearing Mechanisms in Vertebrates*, London: J. & A. Churchill

United Nations. (1998). *CTBT, Comprehensive Nuclear Test-Ban Treaty*. New York, N.Y.: United Nations, Dept. for Disarmament Affairs and Dept. of Public Information.

Uribe-Bahamonde, Y., Becerra, S., Ponce, F., & Vogel, E. (2019). A Quantitative Account of the Behavioral Characteristics of Habituation: The Sometimes Opponent Processes Model of Stimulus Processing. *Frontiers In Psychology*, *10*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00504</u>

van Doorn, J., van den Bergh, D., Böhm, U., Dablander, F., Derks, K., & Draws, T. et al. (2020). The JASP guidelines for conducting and reporting a Bayesian analysis. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*. doi: 10.3758/s13423-020-01798-5

Vengadesan, K., Anbupalam, T. and Gautham, N., (2004). An application of experimental design using mutually orthogonal Latin squares in conformational studies of peptides. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 316(3), pp.731-737.

Vogel, S., Fernández, G., Joëls, M., & Schwabe, L. (2016). Cognitive Adaptation under Stress: A Case for the Mineralocorticoid Receptor. *Trends In Cognitive Sciences*, *20*(3), 192-203. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2015.12.003

Walter, T., Haghshenas Haghighi, M., Schneider, F., Coppola, D., Motagh, M., & Saul, J. et al. (2019). Complex hazard cascade culminating in the Anak Krakatau sector collapse. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1). Doi:10.1038/s41467-019-12284-5

Watanabe, T., & Møller, H. (1990). Low Frequency Hearing Thresholds in Pressure Field and in Free Field. *Journal of Low Frequency Noise, Vibration And Active Control*, 9(3), 106-115. doi: 10.1177/026309239000900303

Weichenberger, M., Bauer, M., Kühler, R., Hensel, J., Forlim, C., & Ihlenfeld, A. et al. (2017). Altered cortical and subcortical connectivity due to infrasound administered near the hearing threshold – Evidence from fMRI. PLOS ONE, 12(4), e0174420. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0174420

Weichenberger, M., Kühler, R., Bauer, M., Hensel, J., Brühl, R., & Ihlenfeld, A. et al. (2015). Brief bursts of infrasound may improve cognitive function – An fMRI study. *Hearing Research*, *328*, 87-93. doi: 10.1016/j.heares.2015.08.001

Weir, Erica (2005). "Mass sociogenic illness". *Canadian Medical Association Journal*. 172 (1): 36. doi:10.1503/cmaj.045027

Wilhelm, O., Hildebrandt, A., & Oberauer, K. (2013). What is working memory capacity, and how can we measure it?. *Frontiers In Psychology*, *4*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00433

Winiarski, M. (1983). The danger of silent noise, Arbetsmiljo, 6, 31-34.

Yeowart, N., Bryan, M., & Tempest, W. (1967). The monaural m.a.p. threshold of hearing at frequencies from 1.5 to 100 c/s. *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, 6(3), 335-342. doi: 10.1016/0022-460x(67)90206-4

Yeowart, N., & Evans, M. (1974). Thresholds of audibility for very low-frequency pure tones. *The Journal of The Acoustical Society Of America*, *55*(4), 814-818. doi:10.1121/1.1914605

Yerkes, R., & Dodson, J. (1908). The relation of strength of stimulus to rapidity of habitformation. *Journal of Comparative Neurology and Psychology*, *18*(5), 459-482. doi: 10.1002/cne.920180503

6. Appendices

I. Ethics approval

20/04/2019

Mail - Darren Pereira - Outlook

Your ethics application has been passed.

Ethics <donotreply@leeds.ac.uk> Thu 11/04/2019 13:38 To: Darren Pereira <psdcp@leeds.ac.uk>

Dear Darren Pereira,

Re your ethics application, Exploring attention spans, ethics reference number: PSC-668.

I am pleased to inform you that the above research application has been reviewed by the School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee and has been approved.

If the reviewers have left any comments they will appear below.

Primary reviewer comments (if applicable) :

Secondary reviewer comments (if applicable) :

Please note that this approval only relates to the particular version of documentation supplied in this specific application (ethics ref no: PSC-668).

If you wish to make any amendments to the approved documentation, please note that all changes require ethical approval prior to implementation.

Please note: You are expected to keep a record of all your approved documentation, as well as documents such as sample consent forms, and other documents relating to the study. This should be kept in your study file, which should be readily available for audit purposes.

You will be given a two week notice period if your project is to be audited. There is a checklist listing examples of documents to be kept which is available at <u>http://ris.leeds.ac.uk/EthicsAudits</u>.

Yours sincerely,

School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee

II. Recruitment poster



Interested in participating in a study exploring Attention?

All you have to do is come along and participate in two computer tasks over 40 minutes. The first will judge you reaction times by asking you to press a specific key corresponding to a colour when it is present on screen. The second will check your recall of colour patterns to measure working memory.

> If you'd like to participate contact us at: psdcp@leeds.ac.uk ** Psychology students will receive 3 credits for participation.

G

Ethical Approval: (PSC-668, approved on 11/04/2019)

*All images taken from public domain vector repositories.

III. Email sent to participant pool

E-mail to be sent using the University of Leeds database:

Subject: £5 or 3 credits for a 40-minute attention study Dear

all,

This experiment aims to investigate attention span. The whole process from start to finish will take 40 minutes and take place in the Psychology labs at the University of Leeds.

You will be asked to attempt tasks on a computer screen for a period no longer that 30 minutes as well as 10 minutes to be allowed for additional questions. The tasks are as follows:

1) A Simon Test which will judge a participants reaction time by asking you to press a specific key corresponding to a colour when it is present on screen.

2) An N-back Test, which will check your recall of colour patterns to measure working memory.

(You will be asked to wear headphones for the duration of the experiment to minimise noise and distraction).

Due to the requirements of the task, all participants must be between the age of 18-40, possess normal hearing, must have normal colour vision and have normal/corrected to normal vision.

If you would like to take part, please email Darren Pereira (psdcp@leeds.ac.uk) to arrange a suitable time.

On the day of the session, please arrive at the main foyer of the Psychology building 5 minutes before the start of your session. You will be met there by a researcher working on the project.

Participants will receive £5 for participating or 3 credits for psychology students.

If you have any questions, please contact Darren Pereira (psdcp@leeds.ac.uk) or Dr Jelena Havelka (0113 343 6695 / J.Havelka@leeds.ac.uk).

The study is organised within the School of Psychology and approved by the School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee

Ethics reference: XXX Date of approval: XXX

Ethics Code: xxx Ethics Approval Date: xx



Participant Information Sheet

Exploring Attention Spans

I would like to invite you to take part in the above-named study but before you decide it is important for you to understand why the research is being carried out and what it will involve. Please ask if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information before deciding whether to take part, contact details are shown at the end of this document. Please read the following information carefully.

Purpose of this study

This study is part of a project working towards my PhD qualification in Psychology. It aims to explore the nature of attention spans possessed by individuals. By doing this we will be able to map the types of attention spans and perhaps uncover patterns.

Who is doing the study?

This study is being undertaken by Mr Darren C Pereira as part of a PhD in the School of Psychology at the University of Leeds, UK. Dr. Jelena Havelka, Dr. Freya Bailes and Dr. Richard Allen from the University of Leeds are supervising this research.

Why have I been asked to participate?

As part of this project, we are seeking to include a wide range of participants that meet the criteria of being between the age of 18-40, possess normal hearing, normal colour vision and possessing normal or corrected to normal vision. You have been invited to participate in this study because you have been identified as belonging to this groups.

What will be involved if I take part in this study?

Your participation in this study is entirely voluntary.

You will be asked to attempt tasks on a computer screen for a period no longer than 30 minutes. There will be an additional 10 minutes for additional questions. The tasks are as follows:

- 1) A Simon Test which will judge your reaction times by asking you to press a specific key corresponding to a colour when it is present on screen.
- 2) An n-back Test, which will check your recall of colour patterns to measure working memory.

You will be asked to wear headphones for the duration of the experiment to minimise noise and distraction.

The whole process from start to finish will take 40 minutes and take place in the Psychology laboratory at the University of Leeds.

What are the advantages and disadvantages of taking part?

Your participation in this study will inform the design of future research addressing individual attention spans.

Can I withdraw from the study at any time?

You are under no obligation to take part in the study and you may withdraw at any point. This will mean that your responses will not be used for analysis or any other purpose. You do not need to give a reason for discontinuing. Participants may withdraw from the process at any point during the experiment and can withdraw data up to 30 days after testing. To do so participants will be assigned a participant number which they would quote when requesting the withdrawal of data.

Will the information I give be kept confidential?

The data gathered from the task will be used and kept in a manner that is fully compliant with all current UK and EU data protection laws. All information obtained from you will be anonymised. No personal data will be stored other than your gender and age. None of the data gathered will be passed onto third parties.

All data will be password protected and kept on the password protected secure network of the University of Leeds or encrypted University of Leeds Laptops. Other members of the project that may have access to this data are Dr. Jelena Havelka, Dr. Freya Bailes and Dr. Richard Allen from the University of Leeds.

What will happen to the results of the study?

Your responses will be analysed, along with other participant's responses. This data will then be analysed and used in conjunction with other data sets to help work towards a final PhD thesis.

Who has reviewed this study?

Ethical approval has been granted by the University of Leeds School of Psychology.

If you would like more information or have any questions or concerns about the study please contact:

Darren Pereira, School of Psychology, Psychology Building, University of Leeds, Leeds, LS2 9JT Email: psdcp@leeds.ac.uk

Dr Jelena Havelka (PhD supervisor), Room G. 19, School of Psychology, Psychology Building, University of Leeds, Leeds, LS2 9JT Email: J.Havelka@leeds.ac.uk Telephone: +44(0113 343 6695

Thank you for taking the time to read this information sheet

V. Participant Consent Form



Participant Consent Form

Title of Research Project: Explorin	g attention spans.		
Name of Researcher: Darren Chri	istopher Pereira		
		Plea	se Initial Box
 I confirm that I have read and und dateJ explaining the above resear ask questions about the project. 	derstand the informati rch project and I have I	ion sheet dated <i>[insert</i> had the opportunity to	
 I understand that my participatio at any time without giving any re consequences. In addition, shoul or questions, I am free to decline 			
 I understand that my responses v permission for members of the re anonymised responses. I underst research materials, and I will not reports that result from the research 	will be kept strictly con esearch team to have a and that my name will be identified or identif arch.	fidential. I give access to <u>my</u> I not be linked with the fiable in the report or	
4. I agree for the data collected from	m me to be used in futi	ure research	
5. I agree to take part in the above i	research project.		
Name of Participant (or legal representative)	Date	Signature	
Name of person taking consent (if different from lead researcher) To be signed and dated in presence	Date of the participant	Signature	
Lead Researcher	Date	Signature	

Date:

Name of Applicant:

VI. Task Instruction Sheet

Task Instruction Sheet

You will be asked to attempt a set of tasks on a computer screen for a period no longer than 30 minutes. There will be an additional 10 minutes for additional questions at the end alongside a debrief.

Each task will be performed twice under the supervision of the researcher, you will leave the room after each attempt so that the task can be reset. The researcher will call you in when the setup is ready for the next attempt.

The Simon Test will judge your reaction times by asking you to press the **green** stickered key or the **red** stickered key corresponding to the colour when it is present on screen.

Speed and accuracy are encouraged.

The n-back Test will check your recall of colour patterns. Press the **blue** stickered key when you see the same colour 2 times after you initially see it (n+2).

Please Note:

This instruction will be explained verbally and will be present in detail on the screen before the start of the attempt. If you do not understand the instructions, please clarify this with the researcher before starting an attempt.

You will be asked to wear headphones for the duration of the experiment to minimise noise and distraction.

The whole process from start to finish will take 40 minutes and take place in the Psychology laboratory at the University of Leeds.

VII. Debrief Information

Exploring Attention Spans

EXPERIMENT DEBRIEF INFORMATION

The impact of infrasonic frequencies on cognition

Environmental noise is universally present in some form in all areas of human, animal, or environmental activity. The effects of exposure to this environmental noise on humans, covers a spectrum, from emotional to physiological. Infrasound, sometimes referred to as low-frequency sound, is sound that is lower in frequency than 20 Hz (Hertz) or cycles per second, the "normal" limit of human hearing. However, under certain conditions we may be able to perceive sound at a much lower frequency. While the actual studies related to infrasound are few, they do not often have a conclusive finding on the effect of infrasound on human cognition.

Using the current understanding of the presence of this sound in an environment, our interest was in being able to we may be able to analyse and understand its effect on cognition. For the duration of this study you were either given a positive or negative piece of manufactured (fake) literature. The purpose of this was to create a positive or negative expectation of infrasonic sound. By collecting data pertaining to the changes in accuracy and response times between groups influenced by either positive expectation literature or negative expectation literature, we hope to be able to study the impact that expectation or priming plays on the effect of infrasonic frequencies on cognitive functioning. This is conventionally known as placebo or nocebo.

Thank you for taking the time to read this information sheet.

If you have any further questions, please contact Darren Pereira (psdcp@leeds.ac.uk) or Dr. Jelena Havelka (J.Havelka@leeds.ac.uk).

VIII. Debrief Questionnaire

Volunteer Participant xxxx

What did you think the experiment was about?

Did you detect any sound during the experiments?

Other Comments:

IX. Ethics Approval (Placebo /Nocebo)

6/12/22, 7:58 PM

Email - Darren Pereira - Outlook

Your ethics application has been passed.

Ethics <donotreply@leeds.ac.uk> Thu 11/04/2019 13:38

To: Darren Pereira <psdcp@leeds.ac.uk>

Dear Darren Pereira,

Re your ethics application, Exploring attention spans, ethics reference number: PSC-668.

I am pleased to inform you that the above research application has been reviewed by the School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee and has been approved.

If the reviewers have left any comments they will appear below.

Primary reviewer comments (if applicable) :

Secondary reviewer comments (if applicable) :

Please note that this approval only relates to the particular version of documentation supplied in this specific application (ethics ref no: PSC-668).

If you wish to make any amendments to the approved documentation, please note that all changes require ethical approval prior to implementation.

Please note: You are expected to keep a record of all your approved documentation, as well as documents such as sample consent forms, and other documents relating to the study. This should be kept in your study file, which should be readily available for audit purposes.

You will be given a two week notice period if your project is to be audited. There is a checklist listing examples of documents to be kept which is available at <u>http://ris.leeds.ac.uk/EthicsAudits</u>.

Yours sincerely,

School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee

X. Placebo / Nocebo Expectation Text

Additional Material: Placebo / Nocebo text

Positive Expectation

An infrasonic frequency is a low-frequency sound that is below the normal limit of human hearing. Infrasonic frequencies are naturally occurring in nature and studies have shown that they have many positive effects on the human body. Studies have shown that infrasonic sound has a positive impact on cognition by improveing memory, attention and general alertness.

Negative Expectation

An infrasonic frequency is a low-frequency sound that is below the normal limit of human hearing. Infrasonic frequencies are naturally occurring in nature and studies have shown that they have many negative effects on the human body. Studies have shown that infrasonic sound has a negative impact on cognition by impairing memory, attention and general alertness.

XI. Debrief Information (Placebo / Nocebo)

Exploring Attention Spans

EXPERIMENT DEBRIEF INFORMATION

The Impact of Infrasonic Frequencies on Cognition

Infrasound, sometimes referred to as low-frequency sound, is sound that is lower in frequency than 20 Hz (Hertz) or cycles per second, the "normal" limit of human hearing. Using the current understanding of the presence of this sound in an environment, our interest was in being able to we may be able to analyse and understand its effect on cognition. For the duration of this study you were either given a positive or negative piece of manufactured (fake) literature. The purpose of this was to create a positive or negative expectation of infrasonic sound. By collecting data pertaining to the changes in accuracy and response times between groups influenced by either positive expectation literature or negative expectation literature, we hope to be able to study the impact that expectation or priming plays on the effect of infrasonic frequencies on cognitive functioning. This is conventionally known as a placebo or nocebo effect.

Kindly refrain from disclosing any part of this study as this information is highly confidential and disclosing this may influence the outcome of future studies. I am happy to send you the final results of this study for your perusal if you would like me to do so.

Thank you for taking the time to read this information sheet.

If you have any further questions, please contact: Darren Pereira (psdcp@leeds.ac.uk) or Dr Jelena Havelka (J.Havelka@leeds.ac.uk)